1283[™]

IEEE Guide for Determining the Effects of High-Temperature Operation on Conductors, Connectors, and Accessories

IEEE Power Engineering Society

Sponsored by the Transmission and Distribution Committee



3 Park Avenue, New York, NY 10016-5997, USA

23 March 2005 Print: SH95273 PDF: SS95273

IEEE Guide for Determining the Effects of High-Temperature Operation on Conductors, Connectors, and Accessories

Sponsor

Transmission and Distribution Committee of the IEEE Power Engineering Society

Approved 2 February 2005

American National Standards Institute

Approved 23 September 2004

IEEE-SA Standards Board

Abstract: The purpose of this guide is to provide general recommendations for consideration when designing new overhead transmission lines that will be operated at high temperatures. It may also evaluate existing transmission lines for operation at higher temperatures. Although this guide is intended for overhead transmission lines, most of the discussion will also be applicable to distribution lines.

Keywords: conductors, conductor hardware, connectors, creep, high-temperature operation

Print: ISBN 0-7381-4480-0 SH95273 PDF: ISBN 0-7381-4481-9 SS95273

The Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers, Inc. 3 Park Avenue, New York, NY 10016-5997, USA

Copyright © 2004 by the Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers, Inc. All rights reserved. Published 23 March 2005. Printed in the United States of America.

IEEE is a registered trademark in the U.S. Patent & Trademark Office, owned by the Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers, Incorporated.

No part of this publication may be reproduced in any form, in an electronic retrieval system or otherwise, without the prior written permission of the publisher.

IEEE Standards documents are developed within the IEEE Societies and the Standards Coordinating Committees of the IEEE Standards Association (IEEE-SA) Standards Board. The IEEE develops its standards through a consensus development process, approved by the American National Standards Institute, which brings together volunteers representing varied viewpoints and interests to achieve the final product. Volunteers are not necessarily members of the Institute and serve without compensation. While the IEEE administers the process and establishes rules to promote fairness in the consensus development process, the IEEE does not independently evaluate, test, or verify the accuracy of any of the information contained in its standards.

Use of an IEEE Standard is wholly voluntary. The IEEE disclaims liability for any personal injury, property or other damage, of any nature whatsoever, whether special, indirect, consequential, or compensatory, directly or indirectly resulting from the publication, use of, or reliance upon this, or any other IEEE Standard document.

The IEEE does not warrant or represent the accuracy or content of the material contained herein, and expressly disclaims any express or implied warranty, including any implied warranty of merchantability or fitness for a specific purpose, or that the use of the material contained herein is free from patent infringement. IEEE Standards documents are supplied "AS IS."

The existence of an IEEE Standard does not imply that there are no other ways to produce, test, measure, purchase, market, or provide other goods and services related to the scope of the IEEE Standard. Furthermore, the viewpoint expressed at the time a standard is approved and issued is subject to change brought about through developments in the state of the art and comments received from users of the standard. Every IEEE Standard is subjected to review at least every five years for revision or reaffirmation. When a document is more than five years old and has not been reaffirmed, it is reasonable to conclude that its contents, although still of some value, do not wholly reflect the present state of the art. Users are cautioned to check to determine that they have the latest edition of any IEEE Standard.

In publishing and making this document available, the IEEE is not suggesting or rendering professional or other services for, or on behalf of, any person or entity. Nor is the IEEE undertaking to perform any duty owed by any other person or entity to another. Any person utilizing this, and any other IEEE Standards document, should rely upon the advice of a competent professional in determining the exercise of reasonable care in any given circumstances.

Interpretations: Occasionally questions may arise regarding the meaning of portions of standards as they relate to specific applications. When the need for interpretations is brought to the attention of IEEE, the Institute will initiate action to prepare appropriate responses. Since IEEE Standards represent a consensus of concerned interests, it is important to ensure that any interpretation has also received the concurrence of a balance of interests. For this reason, IEEE and the members of its societies and Standards Coordinating Committees are not able to provide an instant response to interpretation requests except in those cases where the matter has previously received formal consideration. At lectures, symposia, seminars, or educational courses, an individual presenting information on IEEE standards shall make it clear that his or her views should be considered the personal views of that individual rather than the formal position, explanation, or interpretation of the IEEE.

Comments for revision of IEEE Standards are welcome from any interested party, regardless of membership affiliation with IEEE. Suggestions for changes in documents should be in the form of a proposed change of text, together with appropriate supporting comments. Comments on standards and requests for interpretations should be addressed to:

Secretary, IEEE-SA Standards Board

445 Hoes Lane

Piscataway, NJ 08855-1331USA

NOTE—Attention is called to the possibility that implementation of this standard may require use of subject matter covered by patent rights. By publication of this standard, no position is taken with respect to the existence or validity of any patent rights in connection therewith. The IEEE shall not be responsible for identifying patents for which a license may be required by an IEEE standard or for conducting inquiries into the legal validity or scope of those patents that are brought to its attention.

Authorization to photocopy portions of any individual standard for internal or personal use is granted by the Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers, Inc., provided that the appropriate fee is paid to Copyright Clearance Center. To arrange for payment of licensing fee, please contact Copyright Clearance Center, Customer Service, 222 Rosewood Drive, Danvers, MA 01923 USA; +1 978 750 8400. Permission to photocopy portions of any individual standard for educational classroom use can also be obtained through the Copyright Clearance Center.

Introduction

This introduction is not part of IEEE Std 1283-2004, IEEE Guide for Determining the Effects of High-Temperature Operation on Conductors, Connectors, and Accessories.

All annexes are only an informative part of this guide. The annexes are provided as either information or representative examples of some computational techniques in use today within the industry; however, they are not the only accepted techniques available nor are they to be considered the recommended techniques by the Task Force on The Effects of High Temperature Operation. Other techniques can be found in the references, bibliography, and other sources that provide equally acceptable results. The reader is encouraged to investigate any and all techniques to determine which best suit anticipated applications.

Notice to users

Errata

Errata, if any, for this and all other standards can be accessed at the following URL: <u>http://</u><u>standards.ieee.org/reading/ieee/updates/errata/index.html</u>. Users are encouraged to check this URL for errata periodically.

Interpretations

Current interpretations can be accessed at the following URL: <u>http://standards.ieee.org/reading/ieee/interp/index.html</u>.

Patents

Attention is called to the possibility that implementation of this standard may require use of subject matter covered by patent rights. By publication of this standard, no position is taken with respect to the existence or validity of any patent rights in connection therewith. The IEEE shall not be responsible for identifying patents or patent applications for which a license may be required to implement an IEEE standard or for conducting inquiries into the legal validity or scope of those patents that are brought to its attention.

Participants

The following is a list of participants in the Task Force on The Effects of High Temperature Operation of Transmission Lines of the Working Group on Thermal Aspects of Conductors of the Subcommittee on Towers, Poles, and Conductors of the Transmission and Distribution Committee of the Power Engineering Society.

Jerry L. Reding, Chair

N. S. Annas	D. Jones
F. Leonard Consalvo	A. R. McCulloch
Dale A. Douglass	Yakov Motlis
Lowell H. Fink	Ronald J. Oedemann
R. J. Heh	T. Parker

M. A. Pasha Neil P. Schmidt T. O. Seppa H. B. White W. B. Zollars The following members of the individual balloting committee voted on this guide. Balloters may have voted for approval, disapproval, or abstention.

William J. Ackerman Roy W. Alexander James E. Applequist Gregory Ardrey R. Allen Bernstorf Nelson G. Bingel Joseph F. Buch Kristine K. Buchholz Vern L. Buchholz Thomas J. Buonincontri James J. Burke Vernon L. Chartier James F. Christensen F. Leonard Consalvo Glenn A. Davidson Frank A. Denbrock Nicholas J. Desantis Ghuru Dutt Dhingra Gary W. Di Troia John F. Doering Randall L. Dotson Dale A. Douglass Alexander E. Emanuel Clifford C. Erven John Farrington Frank Ferracane Lowell H. Fink Marcel Fortin George Gela

Donald A. Gillies Edwin J. Goodwin Charles W. Grose Randall C. Groves Richard W. Hensel Edward A. Horgan Magdi F. Ishac Edward Jankowich George G. Karady Goel R. Kennedy Robert O. Kluge Donald E. Koonce Stephen R. Lambert James Larkey Keith E. Lindsey Gregory Luri Otto J. Lynch P. Sarma Maruvada A. S. Mehraban Joseph P. Melanson Carlos Mendoza Gary L. Michel J. David Mitchell Daleep C. Mohla Yakov Motlis Frank J. Muench Thryphon L. Mungono Kyaw Myint Shantanu Nandi

George B. Niles Louis R. Oberski Ronald J. Oedemann John J. Olenik Mark Ostendorp Robert G. Oswald Carlos O. Peixoto Robert C. Peters Arain Peyrot Paul J. Pillitteri T. A. Pinkham Craig Pon Douglas O. Proctor Patrick D. Quinn C. B. Rawlins Jerry L. Reding Thomas J. Rozek James A. Ruggieri John Rumble Donald R. Ruthman Donald Sandell Neil P. Schmidt John M. Teixeira Frank R. Thrash Joseph C. Tumidajski Daniel J. Ward Lewis M. Whisonant James W. Wilson Luis E. Zambrano

When the IEEE-SA Standards Board approved this guide on 23 September 2004, it had the following membership:

Don Wright, Chair Steve M. Mills, Vice Chair Judith Gorman, Secretary

Chuck Adams H. Stephen Berger Mark D. Bowman Joseph A. Bruder Bob Davis Roberto de Marca Boisson Julian Forster* Arnold M. Greenspan Mark S. Halpin Raymond Hapeman Richard J. Holleman Richard H. Hulett Lowell G. Johnson Joseph L. Koepfinger* Hermann Koch Thomas J. McGean Daleep C. Mohla Paul Nikolich T. W. Olsen Ronald C. Petersen Gary S. Robinson Frank Stone Malcolm V. Thaden Doug Topping Joe D. Watson

*Member Emeritus

Also included are the following nonvoting IEEE-SA Standards Board liaisons:

Satish K. Aggarwal, *NRC Representative* Richard DeBlasio, *DOE Representative* Alan Cookson, *NIST Representative*

Don Messina IEEE Standards Project Editor

Contents

1.	Overview	1
2.	References	2
3.	Definitions, acronyms, and abbreviations	3
	3.1 Definitions	3
	3.2 Acroynms and abbreviations	4
4.	Conductors	4
	4.1 Conductor types	4
	4.2 Stranding types	4
	4.3 High-temperature creep	4
	4.4 Loss of strength and annealing	5
	4.5 High-temperature effects on conductor core	6
	4.6 High-temperature effects on sags and tensions	7
5.	Connectors	9
	5.1 Design of connectors	9
	5.2 Connector high-temperature operation	9
	5.3 Analysis of connector high-temperature operation	11
	5.4 Mitigation of connector high-temperature operation	1
6.	Conductor hardware 1	1
	6.1 Metallic conductor hardware	12
	6.2 Nonmetallic conductor hardware	13
Annex	A (informative) Bibliography 1	14
Annex	B (informative) Creep predictor equations for high-temperature operation	21
Annex	C (informative) Example of calculating elevated temperature creep and its effect on conductor sag	25

IEEE Guide for Determining the Effects of High-Temperature Operation on Conductors, Connectors, and Accessories

1. Overview

The purpose of this guide is to provide general recommendations for consideration when designing new overhead transmission lines that will be operated at high temperatures. It may also evaluate existing transmission lines for operation at higher temperatures. Although this guide is intended for overhead transmission lines, most of the discussion will also be applicable to distribution lines.

The trend in most utilities today is to increase the capacity of their transmission lines wherever practical. It has become increasingly difficult to build new lines because of increased costs to obtain rights of way, public intervention, and state licensing requirements. These obstacles have significantly increased the cost and lead times required to place new lines into service. The lost revenue opportunities from power purchase/ sale agreements with other systems because of limited transmission facilities can be substantial. Therefore, utilities are attempting to get as much capacity as is practical from the addition of new high-capacity lines or from the modification of existing lines for high-temperature operation.

In the past, utilities have typically been conservative in rating their lines due to the uncertainties in parameters that influence conductor temperature. Today, with a better understanding of actual ambient conditions and improvements in monitoring instruments and sophisticated analysis tools, utilities are rating lines at higher temperatures with the same or higher level of confidence than in the past. Many utilities have been increasing their transmission line's maximum conductor operating temperature as a way of increasing line capacity. Often higher operating temperatures are needed only for a few hours during the year. General concerns with increasing maximum operating temperature relate to accelerating the aging process of conductors, connectors, and conductor hardware plus maintaining adequate ground clearance for the safe operation of a line. Operating at a higher conductor temperature is acceptable if the associated negative effects are adequately understood, considered, and mitigated in the design or analysis of a line. Some effects of high-temperature operation to consider are as follows:

- Loss of strength in the conductors and connectors
- Increase in conductor sag resulting in reduced clearances
- Reduction of life and integrity of connectors
- Acceleration of component aging with higher operating temperatures
- Increase in resistive losses
- Potential damage to equipment attached to conductors (e.g., wave traps)

This guide is limited to discussing the effects of high-temperature operation on bare overhead transmission conductors, connectors, and conductor hardware. These effects are discussed to identify their impacts on safety, reliability, and economy. A few methods to mitigate some of these negative effects of high-temperature operation are also discussed.

2. References

This standard shall be used in conjunction with the following publications.

Accredited Standards Committee C2-2002, National Electrical Safety Code® (NESC®).¹

Barrett, J. S., "High temperature operation of ACSR conductors," *Proceedings of Seminar on Effects of Elevated Temperature Operation on Overhead Conductors and Accessories*, Atlanta, GA, pp. 25–36, May 1986

Bingham, A. H., Lambert, F. C., Monashkin, M. R., DeLuce, C. B., and Shaw, T. B., "An accelerated performance test of electrical connectors," *IEEE Transactions on Power Delivery*, vol. PWRD-3, no. 2, pp. 762–768, Apr. 1988.

EEOI-NEMA Std CC 3-1973, Connectors for Use Between Aluminum or Aluminum-Copper Overhead Conductors.²

Harvey, J. R., "Creep of transmission line conductors," *IEEE Transactions on Power Apparatus and Systems*, vol. PAS-88, no. 4, pp. 281–285, Apr. 1969.

Harvey, J. R., "Effect of elevated temperature operation on the strength of aluminum conductors," *IEEE Transactions on Power Apparatus and Systems*, vol. PAS-91, no. 5, pp. 1769–1772, Sept./Oct. 1972.

Harvey, J. R., and Larson, R. E., "Creep equations of conductors for sag-tension calculations (abstract)," *IEEE Transactions on Power Apparatus and Systems*, vol. PAS-72, no. 2, p. 1729, July/Aug. 1972.

Harvey, J. R., and Larson, R. E., "Use of elevated temperature creep data in sag-tension calculations," *IEEE Transactions on Power Apparatus and Systems*, vol. PAS-89, no. 3, pp. 380–386, Mar. 1970.

Hickernell, F., Jones, A. A., and Snyder, C. J., "Hy-Therm copper—an improved overhead-line conductor," *AIEE Transactions*, vol. 68, pp. 22–30, 1949.

Howitt, W. B., and Simpkins, T. E., "Effect of elevated temperature on the performance of conductor accessories (abstract)," *IEEE Transactions on Power Apparatus and Systems*, vol. PAS-72, no. 2, p. 1729, July/Aug. 1972.

Kidd, B. E., and Shaw, T. B., "Joint compounds and their relative effects in making good electrical connections," *IEEE/PES T&D Conference*, Atlanta, GA, Apr. 1979.

"Limitations of the ruling span method for overhead line conductors at high operating temperatures," *Report of IEEE WB on Thermal Aspects of Conductors, IEEE WPM 1998*, Tampa, FL, Feb. 3.

Morgan, V. T., *Effect of Elevated Temperature Operation on the Tensile Strength of Overhead Conductors*. IEEE Paper 95 WM 229-5 PWRD, 1995 IEEE/PES Winter Power Meeting.

¹The NESC is available from the Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers, 445 Hoes Lane, P.O. Box 1331, Piscataway, NJ 08855-1331, USA (http://standards.ieee.org/).

²NEMA publications are available from Global Engineering Documents, 15 Inverness Way East, Englewood, CO 80112, USA (http://global.ihs.com/).

Nigol, O., and Barrett, J. S., "Characteristics of ACSR conductors as high temperatures and stresses," *IEEE Transactions on Power Apparatus and Systems*, vol. PAS-100, no. 2, pp 485–493, Feb. 1981.

3. Definitions, acronyms, and abbreviations

For the purposes of this standard, the following terms and definitions apply. *The Authoritative Dictionary of IEEE Standards Terms* [B82] should be referenced for terms not defined in this clause.³

3.1 Definitions

3.1.1 annealing: A metallurgical process where high temperatures allow internal stress relaxation, which results in a softening and strength loss of the metal.

3.1.2 conductor: An overhead bare metal cable used to transmit electrical energy.

3.1.3 conductor hardware: Mechanical devices attached directly to the conductor that do not carry current.

3.1.4 connector: A current-carrying mechanical device used to join two or more conductors or a conductor to conductor hardware.

3.1.5 connector failure, electrical: Advanced connector aging where the locations for easily establishing current flow contact points are essentially exhausted.

3.1.6 connector failure, general: Thermal failure.

3.1.7 connector failure, mechanical: Advanced connector aging where the connector's operating temperature is high enough to soften and eventually part the adjacent conductor.

3.1.8 connector failure, thermal: Advanced connector aging where the connector's operating temperature is greater than the operating temperature of the conductor to which it is attached.

3.1.9 connector, full tension: A connector designed to join conductors and achieve at least 95% of the conductor's rated tensile strength.

3.1.10 connector, limited tension: A connector designed to join conductors for low-tension applications.

3.1.11 creep, accelerated rate: An increase in a conductor's creep rate over general creep rate, usually associated with elevated temperature operation.

3.1.12 creep, general: The accumulative nonelastic elongation of a conductor under tension over an extended period of time at modest temperatures usually not in excess of approximately 75 °C.

3.1.13 creep, high temperature: The creep a conductor experiences over a period of time operating at conductor temperatures in excess of approximately 75 °C.

3.1.14 high-temperature operation: Operating conductors and connectors at temperatures where thermal effects can impact the safety, reliability, and life of the transmission line.

3.1.15 loss of strength: The partial loss of a conductor's mechanical strength through annealing.

³The numbers in brackets correspond to those of the bibliography in Annex A.

3.1.16 maximum conductor operating temperature: The maximum conductor temperature at which the transmission line can operate with acceptable performance in safety and reliability. The line's maximum temperature is usually dictated by either ground clearance or loss of conductor strength.

3.1.17 ruling span: A representative level span for a line section of contiguous unequal suspension spans that approximates changing conductor temperature, creep, and weather conditions.

3.1.18 steel core: The inner strength member of a composite conductor composed of steel strand(s).

3.1.19 steel strands, aluminized: Steel core wire strands coated with aluminum to reduce corrosion of the steel strands.

3.1.20 steel strands, aluminum clad: Steel core wire strands clad with aluminum to reduce corrosion and increase conductance.

3.1.21 steel strands, galvanized: Steel core wire strands coated with zinc to reduce corrosion of the steel strands.

3.2 Acroynms and abbreviations

AAAC all-aluminum alloy conductor
AAC all-aluminum conductor
AACSR aluminum alloy conductor steel reinforced
ACAR aluminum conductor alloy reinforced
ACSR aluminum conductor steel reinforced
ACSS aluminum conductor steel supported
Cu copper

4. Conductors

4.1 Conductor types

Many different types of bare overhead conductors transmit electrical energy. The most common bare overhead conductors are constructed from either copper, aluminum, or their alloys and can be further strength reinforced with steel. Most typical types are AAC, AAAC, ACAR, ACSR, AACSR, ACSS, and Cu.

4.2 Stranding types

The two conductor stranding types typically used to construct bare overhead conductors are round- and trapezoidal-shaped strands.

4.3 High-temperature creep

4.3.1 Introduction to creep

A conductor under tension undergoes nonelastic elongation over a period of time (usually measured in years). This elongation is called creep. The magnitude and rate of creep are a function of the conductor's composition, stranding, line tension, and operating temperature.

4.3.2 Accelerated creep caused by high-temperature operation

Generally stated, high-temperature creep should be considered when conductor temperatures exceed 75 °C. Because aluminum has a much higher creep rate than steel, all-aluminum type conductors such as AAC, AAAC, and ACAR are much more susceptible to creep as well as high-temperature creep. Conversely, copper- and steel-supported aluminum conductors (Cu, ACSR, and AACSR) are less affected by high-temperature creep. Prestressed ACSS has its aluminum strands fully annealed and consequently carries negligible mechanical load; hence, all load is carried by the steel core, which is generally not affected by creep below 200 °C.

4.3.3 Effect on sag-tension

At elevated temperatures, conductor sags and tensions are affected by both an accelerated creep rate and the thermal expansion of conductor strand materials. Aluminum strands expand at twice the rate of steel strands. As a result of different expansion rates, as well as increased creep at elevated temperatures, the effect of high-temperature operation on the sag of all-aluminum conductors is greater than the effect for composite conductors. In a composite conductor, as temperature increases, the conductor tension transfers from the aluminum strands to the steel strands. This load transfer decreases the creep rate on the aluminum and reduces the elongation of the conductor because of thermal expansion. If the tensile load is completely transferred, or "off-loaded" to the steel, only the creep and thermal expansion of the steel strands further affect conductor sag.

The elevated temperature effect on sags and tensions for high steel composition conductors is reduced because the aluminum may off-load at relatively low temperatures (greater than 7.5% steel by area). As the steel has picked up most of the conductor's mechanical load at relatively low operating temperatures, the aluminum's influence on sags and tensions is minimal. Hence, high steel reinforced conductors are less susceptible to high-temperature creep than are conductors with lower steel ratios.

For modest operating temperatures, ACSS conductors quickly off-load the aluminum strands (especially if prestressed). Hence, high-temperature effects on sags and tensions for ACSS conductors are smaller than are high steel conductors and exhibit negligible high-temperature creep below 200 °C.

4.3.4 Creep predictor equations

See Annex A for a technique to predict conductor creep, and Annex B for a computational example of the technique to quantify high-temperature creep and its effect on conductor sag [see IEEE Paper C72 190-2 and Harvey (1969)].⁴

4.4 Loss of strength and annealing

4.4.1 Introduction to conductor strength

Conductors are made of materials designed to operate best at or near ambient temperature. Operating conductors at elevated temperatures, above approximately 75 °C for copper and 93 °C for aluminum, raise many questions and issues, including the loss of conductor strength because of annealing.

⁴Information on references can be found in Clause 2.

4.4.2 Physics of conductor strength

Conductors derive their strength from the metallurgical properties of the parent metal and from cold working the strands during the rolling and/or drawing process used to shape the strands. This cold working enhances the strand's tensile strength by stretching and locking up atomic grain boundaries and atomic lattices. For example, the process of cold working pure aluminum (1350 alloy) produces about 70% of the strand's overall strength.

4.4.3 High-temperature effects on conductor strength

Loss in conductor strength is the result of annealing in the aluminum or copper strands by relaxing the mechanical stress in the grain boundaries and lattices achieved during cold working. The extent of this loss is a function of the material's composition, its operating temperature, the accumulated length of time at this operating temperature, and may also depend on conductor tension for copper. The aluminum begins to lose strength when operated above 93 °C. Copper loses strength with high-temperature operation beginning at about 75 °C. Note that the loss of strength of copper can be variable from one type of copper material to another. For effects of temperature and tension on the annealing of copper, see Hickernell et al. (1949). The strength of a conductor's steel core is not affected by temperatures below 200 °C.

4.4.4 Annealing effects on modulus of elasticity

As noted, aluminum and copper strands lose strength by annealing, which usually does not have a large effect on the final modulus of elasticity of all-aluminum or copper conductors. However, for highly annealed composite conductors, this loss in strength under heavy mechanical loads (i.e., ice) can permanently shift a large percentage of the tensile load from the aluminum strands onto the steel core. This redistribution of load causes extra conductor elongation, hence, greater sags than originally designed.

4.4.5 Predictor equations

Predictor equations for conductor loss of strength tend to simplify a complex phenomenon. Most predictor equations acknowledge the time and temperature dependence of strength loss, but they are still an empirical aggregate of several processes occurring simultaneously. Such equations should be limited to assisting the engineer in understanding some of the impacts of high-temperature operation on conductors and providing general quantitative predictions of strength loss. Annex C contains one method for calculating the remaining strength of a conductor as a percentage of its initial strength [see Harvey (1972)]. Other techniques are also available and should be investigated to determine which approach best suits anticipated applications [see Morgan (1995)].

4.5 High-temperature effects on conductor core

4.5.1 Introduction to steel core

Composite conductors (i.e., ACSR, AACSR, etc.) are stranded aluminum conductors reinforced with strands of steel wires to increase conductor strength.

The core wires of ACSR may be zinc-coated steel (galvanized) available in various strand weight thicknesses (Class A, B, or C), zinc-5% aluminum-mischmetal alloy-coated steel core wire, aluminum coated steel (aluminized), or aluminum-clad steel strands. Galvanized or aluminized coatings are applied to reduce corrosion of the steel wires. Aluminum clad strands have a greater aluminum thickness for increased conductance and greater corrosion protection than aluminized strands. They also provide an aluminum-to-aluminum contact between the core and outer aluminum wires to prevent the possibility of galvanic corrosion.

4.5.2 High-temperature effects on galvanized steel core

Laboratory investigations have shown that high-temperature operation of conductors with a galvanized steel core can be limited by the adherence of zinc coating to steel core wires. Some important generalizations and observations about high-temperature operation of galvanized steel core wire are as follows:

- The steel strands of ACSR conductors will run hotter than the aluminum strands. Tests show temperature gradients between the steel core and outer aluminum strands can be as high as 10% of the conductor surface temperature for new conductors and 20% for old conductors, depending on stranding, age, and ambient conditions.
- The zinc coating does not adhere well to the core wires at temperatures in excess of 200 °C.
 Operating temperatures above this value will decrease the life expectancy of in-service conductors because of reduced corrosion resistance from subsequent pitting of the steel strands.
- Temperatures in excess of 300 °C cause the zinc surface layer to alloy with the underlying steel. This alloying forms brittle compounds that have a tendency to flake and spall; plus they also tend to lower the corrosion resistance of the galvanized wire. Additionally, brittle cracks in the zinc alloy layer will greatly increase the underlying steel's susceptibility to fatigue. Such temperatures cause a reduction in steel hardness and tensile strength.

4.5.3 High-temperature effects on aluminum-clad core

The mechanical characteristics of an aluminum-clad core are similar to those of a steel core because of their comparable steel-strength-to-total-core-strength ratios (approximately 0.94). High-temperature effects on aluminum-clad strands are minimal up to approximately 325 °C. Above such temperatures, the tensile strength of these strands exhibit a smooth degradation with temperature.

4.6 High-temperature effects on sags and tensions

4.6.1 Introduction to conductor sag-tension models

A conductor will elongate both elastically and nonelastically because of changes in temperature and tension. At a constant temperature and within the elastic limit of a material, a uniform material will increase in length at a linear rate with increases in tension. Composite conductors made of materials having different modulus of elasticities, such as steel-reinforced conductors, will exhibit more complex sag-tension characteristics. As tension increases on composite conductors, the tension supported by each material will increase at a varying rate. The overall effect of this process is a nonuniform distribution of mechanical load between the two materials with changing tension. In steel-reinforced conductors, the percentage of load supported by the steel core increases as conductor temperature increases.

4.6.2 High-temperature effects on sags and tensions

As discussed in 4.3, high-temperature operation of conductors can increase the amount of creep they experience. As conductor materials creep, conductor tensions decrease and sags increase. Some types of conductors are more affected by high-temperature operation than are others. Steel-reinforced conductors (ACSR, AACSR, ACSS) and copper conductors (Cu) are affected less by elevated temperature creep than are all-aluminum conductors (AAC, AAAC, ACAR). The increase in sag can result in electrical clearance problems to ground or other objects below the conductors. It is, therefore, important to predict the effect of high-temperature operation on conductor sag.

One technique for predicting this change in sag and tension using a sag-tension program is shown in Annex A and illustrated in Annex B. This prediction technique models elevated temperature creep as an equivalent increase in conductor temperature to achieve the same net increase in conductor length. This calculated temperature increase is then added to standard design temperatures used for sag-tension calculations. When these new temperature values are used for calculating sags and tensions, they predict the added sag resulting from high-temperature operation and elevated temperature creep.

For composite conductors, most sag-tension programs assume the mechanical load carried by aluminum strands completely off-loads to the core above a particular conductor temperature. Some studies have indicated this off-loading may occur only partially or not at all [see Barrett (1986) and Nigol and Barrett (1981)]. The same studies attribute this phenomenon to a significant conductor thermal gradient forcing the inner constricted aluminum layers into compression and hence adding to the core's tensile loading. Thus, high-temperature sags of multiple layer ACSR conductors may be larger than those predicted by most sagtension programs. If conductors are operated above the "off load temperature," sufficient clearance margins should be employed to account for the uncertainty in the effects of aluminum compressive loads on conductor sags. Further research and field investigations into sag and tension effects for ACSR conductors, particularly at high operating temperatures, would be beneficial to the industry to better understand and quantify their impacts on conductor clearances.

4.6.3 Considerations for high-temperature effects on ruling span method

The ruling span method converts a contiguous series of unequal suspension spans into a single level span that predicts changes in conductor tension with changing conductor temperature. This predictor is viable as long as conductor temperature does not depart excessively from sagging temperature. The ruling span method assumes infinite insulator string length, with tension equalization being achieved through string movement between varying span lengths. The method assumes the effects of finite insulator string length and the resulting restraining loads carried by the supporting towers to be negligible.

Operating conductor temperatures exceeding about 100 °C combined with the short suspension strings of lower voltage lines can compromise the ruling span method and result in significant sag changes greater than predicted by ruling span calculations. These excessive sags will generally appear in spans shorter than the ruling span, but not necessarily in the shortest span nor short spans adjacent to long spans [see Report of IEEE WB on Thermal Aspects of Conductors (1998)].

Furthermore, the behavior of sags and tensions during high conductor temperatures in an irregular line section is complex (i.e., spans with large differences in conductor attachment elevations). Caution should be exercised when increasing conductor operating temperature for such line sections when ground clearance approaches design or safety code limits.

4.6.4 Consideration for high-temperature operations and clearances

The effects of high-temperature conductor operation on electrical clearances must be considered whenever it is anticipated that conductor temperatures will exceed the line's original maximum design temperature. Additionally, elevated temperature creep should also be included when conductor temperatures exceed about 75 C for all-aluminum conductors and low steel ACSR conductors (less than 7.5% steel by area), and 100 C for all other steel-reinforced conductors. In general, if elevated temperature creep is less than general creep, then elevated temperature creep has no significant effect on final sags and clearances. However, if elevated temperature creep exceeds general creep, then its effects on sags and clearances should be considered (see 4.3). Clearances should be in compliance with applicable safety codes and local requirements, such as the National Electrical Safety Code (Accredited Standards Committee C2-2002).

5. Connectors

Connectors, as used in this guide, refer to current-carrying devices that mechanically join two or more conductors for the purpose of providing a continuous electrical path. Connectors are generally used to splice, deadend, terminate, and tap conductors. In addition to electrical requirements, transmission connectors are also required to support high mechanical loads typically found in transmission spans between adjacent towers or poles.

5.1 Design of connectors

A quality connector design will provide suitable conductance through the connector, low resistance of the contact interfaces, adequate strength for intended mechanical loads, and an appropriate amount of heat radiating surface area.

5.1.1 Limited tension connectors

Limited tension connectors are primarily designed to join conductors that are under little or no mechanical tension. They are typically used to splice the ends of two conductors together in a low tension application, tap a second conductor from a continuous run conductor, or terminate the end of a conductor in a low tension application. Typical types of limited tension connectors are bolted connectors, compression connectors, formed-wire connectors, wedge type connectors, and implosive connectors. Because of their limited mechanical holding strength, that portion of the connector in contact with the conductor is generally less in area than that of its full tension counterpart.

5.1.2 Full tension connectors

In addition to providing continuity in the electrical path, full tension connectors are also designed to provide adequate mechanical strength to fully develop the conductor's strength. Splice connectors are used to join the ends of the conductors in-span, and deadends are used to join conductors to attachment hardware on deadend structures. Typical types of full tension connectors are one- and two-piece compression connectors, formed-wire splices, implosive connectors, and wedge type connectors. Although the term "full tension" is commonly used for the mechanical holding strength of splices and deadends, they are typically designed to hold a minimum of 95% of the conductor's rated strength.

5.2 Connector high-temperature operation

The main consideration for connectors when evaluating elevated conductor temperature operation is its impact on the connector's long-term service. High-temperature excursions of connectors increase their electrical, mechanical, and thermal stresses, which, if severe and/or frequent, can undermine the integrity of the connector. Failure of connectors can be precipitated by high current and/or high-temperature operation. Such failures can be difficult to predict and find. In addition, they are usually expensive, resulting in extensive field work to repair and a loss in transmission capacity. As the final stage of failure is parting of the conductor, there are also safety issues to consider.

5.2.1 Connector breakdown process

A connector accomplishes current transfer through numerous contact points between the connector and the conductor. High current densities and high operating temperatures tend to encourage the buildup of resistive compounds at these contact point sites, which reduce their effective size or completely close off current flow. The connector will reestablish new contact points at locations within the connector that do not have a buildup of resistive compounds. The reestablishment of contact points within the connector can be thought of as an "aging" process, where the connector will continue to provide good performance as long as there are locations where contact points can be easily established.

Once the connector has aged such that all locations for easily establishing contact points are exhausted, the connector is forced to establish contact points through resistive compounds to reach the parent metal, which increases the overall resistance of the connector, its operating temperature, and current density within the remaining contact points. Once in this mode of operation, higher current densities and operating temperatures encourage further buildup of resistive compounds that further drive up current density and operating temperature resulting in electrical failure. This electrical failure of a connector will mature into a thermal failure that can be detected using thermal sensing equipment. If allowed to continue, the thermal failure will induce mechanical failure where the connector locally heats the conductor to temperatures where it becomes so hot, the conductor softens and eventually parts.

5.2.2 High-temperature effects on connectors

Elevated temperature operation of conductors increases the current density and operating temperature of associated connectors. This increase in service duty for connectors will accelerate their aging process, effectively reducing service life. The amount of accelerated aging a connector experiences is directly related to the magnitude and frequency of elevated current and operating temperature excursions. Unfortunately, the relationship between connector aging and service duty is nonlinear, and little success has been achieved in directly quantifying that relationship.

Most well-designed connectors, when properly installed, can operate at high current densities and high conductor temperatures with acceptable long-term service. These connector designs have traditionally been evaluated using the industry standard current cycle test (see EEOI-NEMA Std CC 3-1973). Current cycling the connector results in thermal expansion and contraction of the electrical contact interface, which tends to break down the contact points. Although this standard test identifies procedures and qualification criteria for connector use under normal operating conditions, it does have its limitations. The test requires a modest conductor temperature of only 100 °C above ambient temperature and does not evaluate the effects of fault current nor atmospheric or industrial contamination. Recognizing that generalizations should be used cautiously, connectors that maintain satisfactory contact pressure over adequate contact areas, plus maintain low operating temperatures, will exhibit better long-term service than connectors exhibiting lesser values of contact pressure and/or higher operating temperature.

5.2.3 Connector failure

For this guide, connectors shall be considered failed if their operating temperature exceeds the temperature of the conductor to which they are attached. It can be argued that a connector operating in this mode has previously failed, and it can also be argued a connector has not failed until the conductor has parted interrupting electrical continuity. However, "failed" field connectors are difficult to detect until operating in thermal failure mode, and such operation is usually a precursor to imminent conductor parting.

5.2.4 High-temperature effects on connector joint compound

Most aluminum connectors (particularly compression type) employ a viscous compound in the interface between the connector and underlying conductor. The primary purpose of the joint compound is to provide a barrier preventing moisture and other contaminants from leaching into the joint. Numerous excursions to high operating temperatures [connector temperatures above 93 °C; see Kidd and Shaw (1979)] can degrade the joint interface through compound evaporation in place and/or boiling the compound out of the connector–conductor joint. Joint compound evaporation will leave a shrunken and hardened residue no longer effective as a moisture barrier, and joint compound boiling expels the compound rendering a fitting no longer protected against moisture and contaminants leaching into the connector–conductor interface. The presence of moisture and contaminants in the joint will accelerate the connector's aging process and effectively shorten the connector's service life.

5.3 Analysis of connector high-temperature operation

5.3.1 Selecting new connectors

When designing overhead power lines for high-temperature operation, consideration should be given to the conductor temperatures at which the connectors were tested. Prudence dictates that connectors designed for high-temperature operation should be tested and qualified for temperatures in excess of those expected in service. It is well known that electrical connectors that operate satisfactorily at one conductor temperature may not be suitable for higher conductor temperatures.

5.3.2 Evaluating existing connectors

When evaluating existing connectors for operation at higher temperatures, a review of the standards against which the connectors were designed and tested will help in evaluating whether they are acceptable for increased service duty. Operating electrical connectors at temperatures above those for which they were designed can be risky. If a standard current-cycle test is not available, performing the same on a specific connector design would provide additional information in evaluating the limits of a connector's service duty.

5.4 Mitigation of connector high-temperature operation

5.4.1 Reinforcing existing connectors

Existing connectors that are suspected of being inadequate for high-temperature operation can be shunted to reduce their electrical loading and prolong their service life. Shunts provide an alternative path for current flow, thereby reducing the connector's current density and operating temperature. The reduction in connector current density retards the connectors aging process, which enhances its long-term service life. Shunting of marginal connectors to enhance long-term survival is appropriate for field connectors that have not yet failed.

5.4.2 Repair of failed connectors

Repair of failed connectors where the conductor has parted involves cutting out the connector and adjacent annealed conductor, thoroughly cleaning the undamaged conductor ends, and installing new connectors. When connectors are found failed but have not parted the conductor (usually with some type of thermal-vision device), the repair is the same as a parted conductor; cut out the failed connector, and properly install a new replacement. As an interim measure, however, the failed connector can be shunted, which reduces current density and operating temperature, thereby retarding the breakdown process.

6. Conductor hardware

Conductor hardware, as used in this guide, refers to non-current-carrying devices attached directly to the conductor. Conductor hardware includes such standard devices as suspension clamps (with and without armor rod), bolted strain clamps, armor grip suspension, dampers, spacers, and spacer-dampers. Insulators and other hardware not directly attached to the conductor are beyond the scope of this guide. Connectors are covered in Clause 5.

6.1 Metallic conductor hardware

Metallic conductor hardware for aluminum conductors is fabricated primarily from aluminum alloys. Hardware for copper conductors is fabricated primarily from copper alloys. This practice recognizes the galvanic reaction between copper and aluminum when the two dissimilar metals are brought together in the presence of moisture. Galvanized ferrous hardware components have had extensive use because of their high strength-to-weight ratio and their being relatively galvanicly inert to both aluminum and copper in mild atmospheres.

6.1.1 High-temperature effects of ferrous conductor hardware

Ferrous hardware, which surrounds, or partly surrounds, a conductor, is subject to hystereses and eddy current losses because of the magnetic flux associated with conductor current flow. These losses manifest as heat gain within the hardware and, hence, increase operating temperature. Hardware operating temperatures greater than the conductor's allowable temperature for annealing may result in an unacceptable localized loss of conductor strength. The localized loss of conductor strength is confined to the conductor directly under and adjacent to the hardware.

Heat gain caused by hystereses and eddy current losses in ferrous hardware is a function of conductor current magnitude and hardware thermal conductivity. Convection and radiation heat losses from the ferrous hardware are primarily a function of hardware surface area and surrounding ambient conditions. Hence, ferrous hardware operating temperatures will fluctuate in response to changing current flow and ambient conditions such that an equilibrium hardware temperature will be maintained balancing heat gain against heat loss. This equilibrium temperature will be largely influenced by current magnitude, ambient temperature, and a hardware's mass-to-surface-area ratio.

Conductor hardware is employed in numerous applications to support and protect the conductor and is available in many different sizes and shapes. Smaller versions of ferrous hardware have relatively low mass in comparison with their surface area and usually operate at temperatures well below the conductor's allowable annealing temperature regardless of current. Conversely, larger versions of ferrous hardware have a mass-to-surface-area ratio that can result in hardware temperatures greater than the conductor's allowable annealing temperature at higher currents. Hardware large enough to produce localized conductor temperatures of concern are usually confined to suspension and strain clamps, but they can be any ferrous device surrounding the conductor with a large mass-to-surface-area ratio. Published literature quantifying localized conductor temperature increases caused by ferrous hardware as a function of current flow is limited.

Mitigating the effects of localized heating under ferrous hardware usually involves either limiting the current rating of a line, limiting the cumulative time a conductor can operate at an elevated rating, or replacing the hardware with nonferrous hardware. As the possible conductor/hardware combinations are extensive, no preferred mitigating technique has emerged within the utility industry. Such mitigation tends to be utility specific and often involves a combination of various techniques.

6.1.2 High-temperature effects with nonferrous conductor hardware

Nonferrous conductor hardware does not have internal heat generation because of conductor current flow. Such hardware also increases the local radiating surface area. Hence, nonferrous hardware usually operates cooler than does the conductor to which it is attached.

6.2 Nonmetallic conductor hardware

Nonmetallic conductor hardware is generally limited to elastomeric compounds that serve as compressive "bushings" within a hardware assembly. Compression bushings are typically used in spacers, spacerdampers, and armor grip suspension clamps to provide a resilient interface between the conductor and the hardware.

Little work has been published concerning the effects of high-temperature operation on elastomeric hardware components. During and after high-temperature excursions, the elastomeric components must retain their resilient and semiconductive properties for long-term survival. Loss of such properties can result in component deterioration and/or component failure.

Annex A

(informative)

Bibliography

A.1 Conductors

[B1] Aluminum Electrical Conductor Handbook, 2d ed. New York: The Aluminum Association, 1982.

[B2] Anaconda Wire & Cable Company, "Conductors for wire and cable," Publication C-79, Section 16, 1951.

[B3] ASTM Std B498-88, Standard Specification for Zinc-Coated (Galvanized) Steel Core Wire for Aluminum Conductors, Steel Reinforced (ACSR).⁵

[B4] Barrett, J. S., Dutta, S., and Nigol, O., "A new computer model of ACSR conductors," *IEEE Transactions on Power Apparatus and Systems*, vol. PAS-102, pp. 614–621, Mar. 1983.

[B5] Bourgsdorf, V. V., and Nikitina, L. G., "Heating of conductors, their thermal endurance and increase in transmission lines capacity," *Cigre International Conference on Large High Voltage Electric Systems*, Paper 22-04, Paris, France, 1980.

[B6] Champion, T. C., Bush, R. A., Black, W. Z., and Byrd, W. R., "Modeling and verification of a real-time program for the determination of conductor temperature and sag of overhead lines," *South Eastern Electric Exchange*, New Orleans, LA, Summer 1983.

[B7] Douglass, D. A. "Radial and axial temperature gradients in bare stranded conductor," *IEEE Transactions on Power and Delivery*, vol. PWRD-1, no. 2, pp. 1–15, Apr. 1986.

[B8] Foss, S. D., and Lin, S. H., "Conductor and clamp temperature measurements in an indoor controlled wind environment," Northeast Utilities Service Company, Final Report, Prepared by Large Transformer Operations, General Electric Company, Pittsfield, MA, Nov. 1985.

[B9] Foss, S. D., Lin, S. H., and Carberry, R., "Significance of the conductor radial temperature gradient within a dynamic line rating methodology," *IEEE Transactions on Power and Delivery*, vol. PWRD-2, no. 2, pp. 502–511, Apr. 1987.

[B10] Gorub, J. C., and Wolf, E. F., "Load capability of bare ACSR and all aluminum conductors based on long time outdoor temperature rise tests," *AIEE Transactions Part III*, vol. 82, no. 12, pp. 852–857, Dec. 1963.

[B11] Hall, J. F., Deb, A. K., and Savoullis, J., "Wind tunnel studies of transmission line conductor temperatures," *IEEE Transactions on Power and Delivery*, vol. PWRD-3, no. 2, pp. 801–812, Apr. 1988.

[B12] Koval, D. O., and Billinton, R., "Determination of transmission line ampacities by probability and numerical methods," *IEEE Transactions on Power Apparatus and Systems*, vol. 89, pp. 1485–1492, Sept. 1970.

⁵ASTM publications are available from the American Society for Testing and Materials, 100 Barr Harbor Drive, West Conshohocken, PA 19428-2959, USA (http://www.astm.org/).

[B13] Matveev, F. P., "Temperature stresses in steel-aluminum conductors," *Soviet Power Engineering*, no. 6, June 1975.

[B14] Morgan, V. T., "The effect of temperature on the loss of tensile strength of overhead conductors," *Proceedings of Seminar on Effects of Elevated Temperature Operation on Overhead Conductors and Accessories*, Atlanta, GA, pp. 37–51, May 1986.

[B15] Morgan, V. T., "The loss of tensile strength of hard-drawn conductors by annealing in service," *IEEE Transactions on Power Apparatus and Systems*, vol. PAS-98, no. 3, pp. 700–709, May/June 1979.

[B16] Morgan, V. T., "The radial temperature distribution and effective radial thermal conductivity in bare solid and stranded conductors," *IEEE Transactions on Power and Delivery*, vol. PWRD-5, pp. 1443–1452, July 1990.

[B17] Olmsted, L. M., "Safe ratings for overhead line conductors," *AIEE Transactions*, vol. 62, pp. 845–853, 1943.

[B18] Russell, A. S., "Effect of heating at 300 and 500°F on the properties of aluminum and copper wires," *Wire and Wire Products*, vol. 27, pp. 255–256, Mar. 1952.

[B19] Seppa, T. O., and Seppa, T., "Conductor sag and tension characteristics at high temperatures," *Southeastern Exchange E/O Meeting*, Atlanta, GA, May 22, 1996.

[B20] Svensson, L., Engqvist, A., Melin, S., Elgh, L., and Heden, B., "Thermal design criteria for overhead lines with regard to load and short-circuit currents," *Cigre International Conference on Large High Voltage Electric Systems*, Paper 22-09, Paris, France, 1980.

[B21] Thermal Behavior of Overhead Conductors, CIGRE Electra No. 144, Oct. 1992.

[B22] Weedy, B. M., "Dynamic current rating of overhead lines," *Electric Power Systems Research*, vol. 16, pp. 11–15, 1989.

[B23] Wood, R. J. C., "Heating of large steel-cored aluminum conductors," *AIEE Transactions*, vol. 43, pp. 1258–1262, Oct. 1924.

[B24] Zollars, W. B., "Aluminum conductor elevated temperature considerations," *Proceedings of Seminar* on Effects of Elevated Temperature Operation on Overhead Conductors and Accessories, Atlanta, GA, pp. 1–24, May 1986.

[B25] Zucker, M., "Thermal rating of overhead line wire," *AIEE Transactions*, vol. 62, pp. 501–507, July 1943.

A.2 Connectors

[B26] Aronstein, J., "Conduction in failing aluminum connections," *Proceedings of the Thirty-Sixth IEEE Holm Conference on Electrical Contacts*, Montreal, Quebec, Canada, Aug. 1990.

[B27] Bennett, E. H., "Designing compression fittings for long-term survival," *Bonneville Power Engineering Symposium*, Apr. 1992.

[B28] Bergan, M. D., "Electrical connections, the inside story," *Electric Light and Power*, Dec. 1948.

[B29] Boyer, L., Noel, S., and Houze, F., "Constriction resistance of a multispot contact: An improved analytical expression," *Proceedings of the Thirty-Sixth IEEE Holm Conference on Electrical Contacts*, Montreal, Quebec, Canada, Aug. 1990.

[B30] Braunovic, M., "Effect of contact aid compounds on the performance of bolted aluminum-toaluminum joints under current cycling conditions," *Proceedings of the Thirty-first Annual Holm Conference*, Chicago, IL, Sept. 1985.

[B31] Braunovic, M., "Evaluation of different types of contact aid compounds for aluminum-to-aluminum connectors and conductors," *Proceedings of the Thirtieth Annual Holm Conference*, Chicago, IL, Sept. 1984.

[B32] Bryant, M. D., and Jin, M., "Timewise increases in contact resistance due to surface roughness and corrosion," *Proceedings of the Thirty-Sixth IEEE Holm Conference on Electrical Contacts*, Montreal, Quebec, Canada, Aug. 1990.

[B33] Dalle, B., "Size and aging of joints for bare conductors of overhead line," *Electricite de France*, Dec. 1982.

[B34] DeLuca, C. B., "Current cycling connectors in tension," *Proceedings of Seminar on Effects of Elevated Temperature Operation on Overhead Conductors and Accessories*, Atlanta, GA, pp. 110–119, May 1986.

[B35] Dupre, H., "The problems involved in designing connectors for aluminum cable," *AIEE 51-325*, Sept. 1951.

[B36] Dzekster, N. N., and Izmailov, V. V., "Some methods for improving aluminum contacts," *Proceedings of the Thirty-Sixth IEEE Holm Conference on Electrical Contacts*, Montreal, Quebec, Canada, Aug. 1990.

[B37] Frank, W., "The critical aspects of steel hardware in aluminum connectors," AIEE Transmission and Distribution Committee, June 1959.

[B38] Howitt, W. B., "Elevated temperature performance of conductor accessories," *Proceedings of Seminar on Effects of Elevated Temperature Operation on Overhead Conductors and Accessories*, Atlanta, GA, pp. 120–139, May 1986.

[B39] Joyce, C., "A Weibull model to characterize lifetimes of aluminum alloy electrical wire connections," *Proceedings of the Thirty-Sixth IEEE Holm Conference on Electrical Contacts*, Montreal, Quebec, Canada, Aug. 1990.

[B40] Lahaye, C., "Influence of some parameters in the performances and stability of the electrical characteristics of contacts made of aluminum alloy in the industry," *Proceedings of the Thirty-Sixth IEEE Holm Conference on Electrical Contacts*, Montreal, Quebec, Canada, Aug. 1990.

[B41] Lefebvre, J., Galand, J., and Marsolais, R. M., "Electrical contacts on nickel plated aluminum; the state of the art," *Proceedings of the Thirty-Sixth IEEE Holm Conference on Electrical Contacts*, Montreal, Quebec, Canada, Aug. 1990.

[B42] Mainier, L., "Connection technique for aluminum conductors in LV and MV power distribution systems characteristics and field experience," *Proceedings of the Thirty-Sixth IEEE Holm Conference on Electrical Contacts*, Montreal, Quebec, Canada, Aug. 1990.

[B43] Malucci, R. D., "Multispot model of contacts based on surface features," *Proceedings of the Thirty-Sixth IEEE Holm Conference on Electrical Contacts*, Montreal, Quebec, Canada, Aug. 1990.

[B44] Morin, F., Parker, M., Rousseau, G., and Saint-Louis, M., "Multiple-electrode probe assemblies and nondestructive testing of high-ampacity joints," *Proceedings of the Thirty-Sixth IEEE Holm Conference on Electrical Contacts*, Montreal, Quebec, Canada, Aug. 1990.

[B45] Mroczkowski, R., "Connector contacts: Critical surfaces," Advanced Materials & Processes, Metal Progress, Dec. 1988.

[B46] Naybour, R. D., and Farrell, T., "Degradation mechanisms of mechanical connectors on aluminum conductors," *Proceedings of the IEE*, vol. 120, no. 2, pp. 273–280, Feb. 1973.

[B47] Oberg, A., Olsson, K., and Bohlin, A., "Testing of power connectors—influence of testing parameters," *Proceedings of the Thirty-Sixth IEEE Holm Conference on Electrical Contacts*, Montreal, Quebec, Canada, Aug. 1990.

[B48] Reding, J. L., "Investigation of thrasher compression fittings on BPA's direct current transmission line," *IEEE Transactions on Power and Delivery*, vol. PWRD-6, no. 4, pp. 1616–1622, Oct. 1991.

[B49] Timsit, R. S., "The melting voltage in electrical contacts," *Proceedings of the Thirty-Sixth IEEE Holm Conference on Electrical Contacts*, Montreal, Quebec, Canada, Aug. 1990.

[B50] Vislenev, Y. S., and Kuzmin, P. P., "Evaluation of contact service life of electrical connections," *Proceedings of the Thirty-Sixth IEEE Holm Conference on Electrical Contacts*, Montreal, Quebec, Canada, Aug. 1990.

A.3 Conductor hardware

[B51] Adams, H. W., "Thermal cycle tests of SSAC and associated fittings," Reynolds Aluminum, Series 34, May 1976.

[B52] Bissiri, A., "Suspension clamp power loss tests," *Electrical World*, vol. 129, pp. 58-62, Jan. 1948.

[B53] Champa, R. J., "Heating characteristics of the armor-grip suspension at elevated temperatures," Preformed Line Products Co., Research and Engineering, TR-591-E, Nov. 1976.

[B54] Crabb, V. L., and Sheadel, J. M., "Magnetic heating of suspension clamps," *AIEE Transactions*, vol. 68, pp. 1032–1035, 1949.

[B55] Farley, R. W., "Power losses in malleable iron and aluminum overhead line suspension clamps," *Electrical Review*, vol. 168, no. 15, 1961.

[B56] Morgan, V. T., "Non-magnetic suspension clamps for overhead power lines," *Electrical Review*, vol. 175, no. 9, pp. 314–317, Aug. 1964.

[B57] Nabet, G., "Effect of elevated temperature on conductors and associated hardware," *EEI T&D*, Baltimore, MD, Oct. 1985.

[B58] Ohio Brass, "Cooler in the clamp," *Hi-Tension News*, p.7, Sept. 1959.

[B59] Olmsted, L. M., "Joints and hardware limit overhead conductor ratings," *Electrical World*, vol. 127, pp. 42–45, Jan. 1947.

A.4 General

[B60] Alcan Wire and Cable, "Current carrying capacities for overhead aluminum conductors," Nov. 1972.

[B61] Atlantic City Electric, "Thermal conductor ratings," Atlantic City, NJ, 1972.

[B62] Barrett, J. S., Nigol, O., Fehervari, C. J., and Findlay, R. D., "A new model of AC resistance in ACSR conductors," *IEEE Transactions on Power and Delivery*, vol. PWRD-1, no. 2, pp. 198–208, 1986.

[B63] [Barrett, J. S., "Optimization of conductor design," *IEEE Transactions on Power and Delivery*, vol. PWRD-4, no. 1, pp 453–464, Jan. 1989.

[B64] Beers, G. M., Gilligan, S. R., Lis, H. W., and Schamberger, J. M., "Transmission conductor ratings," *IEEE Transactions on Power Apparatus and Systems*, vol. 82, no. 10, pp. 767–772, 1963.

[B65] Black, W. Z., and Rehberg, R. L., "Simplified model for steady state and real-time ampacity of overhead conductors," *IEEE Transactions on Power Apparatus and Systems*, vol. PAS-104, pp. 2942–2953, 1985.

[B66] Davidson, G. A., Donoho, T. E., Hakun, G., Hofmann, P. W., Bethke, T. E., Landrieu, P. R. H., and McElhaney, R. T., "Thermal ratings for bare overhead conductors," *IEEE/PES Winter Meeting*, New York, Paper C74 003-0, Feb. 1974.

[B67] Davidson, G. A., Donoho, T. E., Landrieu, P. R. H., McElhaney, R. T., and Saeger, J. H., "Short-time thermal ratings for bare overhead conductors," *IEEE Transactions on Power Apparatus and Systems*, vol. PAS-88, no. 3, pp. 194–199, Mar. 1969.

[B68] Davis, M. W., "A new thermal rating approach: The real time thermal rating system for strategic overhead conductor transmission lines, part I: General description and justification of the real time thermal rating system," *IEEE Transactions on Power Apparatus and Systems*, vol. PAS-96, no. 3, pp. 803–809, May/June 1977.

[B69] Davis, M. W., "A new thermal rating approach: The real time thermal rating system for strategic overhead conductor transmission lines, part II: steady state thermal rating program," *IEEE Transactions on Power Apparatus and Systems*, vol. PAS-96, no. 3, pp. 810–825, May/June 1977.

[B70] Davis, M. W., "Development of the real time thermal rating system," Presented to EEI, T&D Committee, pp. 1–45, May 18, 1979.

[B71] Davis, M. W., "Nomographic computation of the ampacity rating of aerial conductors," *IEEE Transactions on Power Apparatus and Systems*, vol. PAS-89, no. 3, pp. 387–399, Mar. 1970.

[B72] Donoho, T. E., "BG&E study confirms economical conductor sizing for distribution system," *Electric Light and Power*, pp. 70–73, May 1966.

[B73] ECAR Transmission Advisory Panel, "Transmission conductors and thermal ratings," 1974.

[B74] Endrenyi, J., and McMurtie, N. J., "Determination of conductor ampacity by digital simulation of load, weather, and aging history," *International Conference on Large High Tension Electric Systems* (CIGRE), Report 23-04, 1968.

[B75] Ewelt, K. P., Kollewe, H., and Stoll, U., "A thermal model for determination of temporary overhead line ampacity dependent on weather conditions," *International Conference on Large High Tension Electric Systems (CIGRE)*, Paris, France, Paper 22-04, Aug. 24–Sept. 2, 1970.

[B76] George, E. E., "Electrical heating characteristics of overhead conductors, part I-III: Solid copper wire," *Electric Light and Power*, Part I, pp. 48–53, Dec. 1944; Part II, pp. 78–80, Jan. 1945; Part III, pp. 58–60, Apr. 1945.

[B77] George, E. E., "Electrical heating characteristics of overhead conductors, part IV: Methods of computation," *Electric Light and Power*, pp. 94–97, 130, Dec. 1945.

[B78] Grant, I. S., and Longo, V. J., "Economic incentives for larger transmission conductors," *IEEE Transactions on Power Apparatus and Systems*, vol. PAS-100, no. 9, pp. 4291–4297, Sept. 1981.

[B79] Hazan, E., "Extra-high voltage single and twin bundle conductors," *AIEE Transactions Part III*, vol. 78, pp. 1425–1434, 1959.

[B80] Hazan, E., "Transmission conductor current rating should be based on 25°C rise," *Transmission and Distribution*, pp. 68–71, Nov. 1968,.

[B81] House, H. E., and Tuttle, P. D., "Current-carrying capacity of ACSR," *AIEE Transactions Part III*, vol. 77, pp. 1169–1177, 1958.

[B82] IEEE 100[™], *The Authoritative Dictionary of IEEE Standards Terms*, Seventh Edition.⁶

[B83] Kidder, A. H., and Woodward, C. B., "Ampere load limits for copper in overhead lines," *AIEE Transactions*, vol. 62, pp. 148–152, Mar. 1943.

[B84] Morgan, V. T., "The current-carrying capacity of bare overhead conductors," *Electrical Engineering Transactions of The Institution of Engineers, Australia*, vol. EE4, no. 1, pp 63–72, Mar. 1968.

[B85] Morgan, V. T., "The heat transfer from bare stranded conductors by natural and forced convection in air," *International Journal of Heat & Mass Transfer*, vol. 16, pp. 2023–2024, 1973.

[B86] Morgan, V. T., "Rating of bare overhead conductors for continuous currents," *The Proceedings of the Institution of Electrical Engineers*, vol. 114, no. 10, pp. 1473–1482, Oct. 1967.

[B87] Morgan, V. T., "Rating of bare overhead conductors for intermittent and cyclic currents," *Proceedings of the Institution of Electrical Engineers*, vol. 116, no. 8, pp. 1361–1371, Aug. 1969.

[B88] Morgan, V. T., "Some factors which influence the continuous and dynamic thermal ratings of overhead-line conductors," *Cigre Symposium*, Brussels, Belgium, 06-85, Paper 230-08, 1985.

[B89] Morgan, V. T., "The thermal rating of overhead-line conductors part I. The steady-state thermal model," *Electric Power Systems Research*, vol. 5, pp. 119–139, 1982.

[B90] Morgan, V. T., "The thermal rating of overhead-line conductors part II. A sensitivity analysis of the parameters in the steady-state thermal model," *Electric Power Systems Research*, vol. 6, pp. 287–300, 1983.

[B91] Morgan, V. T., "The unsteady-state current rating of bare overhead conductors," *Institution of Engineers, Australia, Electrical Engineering Transactions*, vol. EE16, pp. 114–119, 1980.

[B92] Nabet, G., "Thermal ratings for bare overhead conductors," *1982 Summer Meeting of the Power Engineering Society*, San Francisco, CA, July, 21, 1982.

⁶IEEE publications are available from the Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers, Inc., 445 Hoes Lane, Piscataway, NJ 08854, USA (http://standards.ieee.org/).

[B93] Ramon, G. J., "Dynamic thermal line rating summary and status of the state-of-the-art technology," *IEEE Transactions on Power and Delivery*, vol. PWRD-2, no. 3, pp. 851–858, July 1987.

[B94] Reding, J. L., "Probabilistic analysis techniques used to examine ground clearance for the Pacific Northwest DC intertie upgrade," *Proceedings on Probabilistic Methods Applied to Electric Power Systems*, pp. 653–663, July 11–13, 1986.

[B95] Schurig, O. R., and Frick, C. W., "Heating and current-carrying capacity of bare conductors for outdoor service," *General Electric Review*, Schenectady, NY, pp. 141–157, 1930.

[B96] Seppa, T. O., "Accurate ampacity determination; temperature-sag model for operational real time ratings," *IEEE Transactions on Power Delivery*, vol. 10, no. 3, pp 1460–1470, July 1996.

[B97] Steeley, W. J., Norris, B. L., and Deb, A. K., "Ambient temperature corrected dynamic transmission line ratings at two PG&E locations," *IEEE Transactions on Power Delivery*, vol. PWRD-6, no.23, pp. 1234–1242, July 1991.

[B98] "Tailor conductor thermal ratings to need," *Electrical World*, May 1, 1976.

[B99] Vakili, F., Viles, M. R., Reding, J. L., and Sherry, N. G., "Dynamic thermal line loading monitor," *IEEE Transactions on Power Delivery*, vol. PWRD-1, no. 2, pp. 62–66, May 1986.

[B100] Waghorne, J. H., and Ogorodnikov, V. E., "Current carrying capacity of ACSR conductors," *AIEE Transactions Part II*, vol. 70, pp. 1159–1162, 1951.

[B101] Wong, T. Y., Findlay, J. A., and McMurtrie, A. N., "An on-line method for transmission ampacity evaluation," *IEEE Transactions on Power Apparatus and Systems*, vol. PAS-101, no. 2, pp. 309–315, Feb. 1982.

Annex B

(informative)

Creep predictor equations for high-temperature operation

B.1 Definition of terms

$\epsilon_{c} \ \epsilon \ \Sigma \epsilon_{T}$	primary creep strain (units/unit) strain—increase in length/original (units/unit) increase in conductor strain because of elevated temperature operation (units/unit)
σ α Τ Τ ΔΤ Α _{EC} Α _{ST} Α _T % RS	stress—tension/area (N/mm ² , lbf/in ²) coefficient of thermal expansion ([units/unit]/°C) elapsed time (hours) conductor temperature (°C) temperature change value (°C) area of aluminum strands (mm ² , in ²) area of steel strands (mm ² , in ²) total conductor area (mm ² , in ²) tension as a percentage of the rated strength (%)

B.2 Formula constants (metric)

	7 strands	19 strands	37 strands	61 strands
K ₁	1.3600	1.2900	1.2300	1.1600
K ₂	0.8400	0.7700	0.7700	0.7100
M ₁	0.0148	0.0142	0.0136	0.0129
M ₂	0.0090	0.0090	0.0084	0.0077
G	0.7100	0.6500	0.7700	0.6100

Table B.1—Creep predictor formula constants (metric)

B.3 Formula constants (English)

	7 strands	19 strands	37 strands	61 strands
K ₃	0.002100	0.002000	0.001900	0.001800
K ₄	0.001300	0.001200	0.001200	0.001100
M ₃	0.000023	0.000022	0.000021	0.000020
M4	0.000014	0.000014	0.000013	0.000012
G	0.001100	0.001000	0.001200	0.000940

Table B.2—Creep predictor formula constants (English)

NOTE-K₁, K₃, M₁, and M₃ are for wire bar rolled rod, and K₂, K₄, M₂, and M₄ are for continuous cast (rolled) rod.⁷

B.4 Predictor equations

B.4.1 All-aluminum conductors

Room temperature: (metric)

AAC:
$$\epsilon_c = K \sigma^{1.3} t^{0.16}$$

AAAC: $\epsilon_c = G \sigma^{1.3} t^{0.16}$
ACAR: $\epsilon_c = (0.19 + 1.36 A_{EC} / A_T) (T^{1.4} \sigma^{1.3} t^{0.16})$

Room temperature: (English)

AAC:
$$\epsilon_c = K \sigma^{1.3} t^{0.16}$$

AAAC: $\epsilon_c = G \sigma^{1.3} t^{0.16}$
ACAR: $\epsilon_c = (0.0003 + 0.0021 A_{EC} / A_T) (T^{1.4} \sigma^{1.3} t^{0.16})$

Elevated temperature: (metric)

AAC:
$$\epsilon_{c} = M T^{1.4} \sigma^{1.3} t^{0.16}$$

AAAC: $\epsilon_{c} = 0.0077 T^{1.4} \sigma^{1.3} t^{0.16}$
ACAR: $\epsilon_{c} = (0.0019 + 0.012 A_{EC} / A_{T}) (T^{1.4} \sigma^{1.3} t^{0.16})$

⁷Notes in text, tables, and figures are given for information only and do not contain requirements needed to implement the guide.

Elevated temperature: (English)

AAC:
$$\epsilon_c = M T^{1.4} \sigma^{1.3} t^{0.16}$$

AAAC: $\epsilon_c = 0.000012 T^{1.4} \sigma^{1.3} t^{0.16}$
ACAR: $\epsilon_c = (0.000003 + 0.000019 A_{EC} / A_T) (T^{1.4} \sigma^{1.3} t^{0.16})$

B.4.2 Steel-reinforced conductors (ACSR and AACSR)

Room temperature:

Aluminum strands drawn from hot-rolled rod:

 $\epsilon_{\rm c} = 2.4 \, (\% RS)^{1.3} \, t^{0.16}$

Aluminum strands drawn from continuous cast rod:

$$\varepsilon_{\rm c} = 1.1 \, (\% \rm RS)^{1.3} \, t^{0.16}$$

Elevated temperature:

Only for conductors with less than 7.5% steel by area:

 $\varepsilon_{\rm c}$ = .24 (%RS)^{1.3} T t^{0.16}

Elevated creep strain for conductors with a steel core equal to or greater than 7.5% steel by area can be ignored.

B.4.3 Temperature change value

The temperature change value is a calculated temperature that approximates the net increase in microstrain because of elevated temperature creep over general creep.

$$\Sigma \varepsilon_{\rm T} = \alpha \Delta T$$
 or $\Delta T = \Sigma \varepsilon_{\rm T} / \alpha$

where

.

 $\Sigma \epsilon_{\rm T} = \epsilon_{@ high} - \epsilon_{@ ambient}$

 $\epsilon_{@ambient}$ is the strain caused by room temperature creep only, and $\epsilon_{@high}$ is the strain caused by elevated (high) temperature creep.

Typical values for the coefficient of thermal expansion (α) are as in Table B.3.

Conductor type	α
Aluminum	23.0×10^{-6}
ACSR (18/1)	21.1×10^{-6}
ACSR (26/7)	18.9×10^{-6}
ACSR (36/1)	22.0×10^{-6}
ACSR (45/7)	20.7×10^{-6}
ACSR (72/7)	21.6×10^{-6}
ACSR (76/19)	21.1×10^{-6}
ACSR (84/19)	19.4×10^{-6}

Table B.3—Conductor coefficient of thermal expansion values

B.5 Use of predictor equations

- a) Use standard graphic or computer sag and tension methods to predict the sags and tensions without elevated creep for the given situation.
- b) Compute the creep at ambient temperature.
- c) Compute the creep at the first elevated temperature.
- d) Compute how many hours it would take to get this same amount of creep at the second elevated temperature.
- e) Repeat item a) and item b) for all elevated temperatures.
- f) Calculate the temperature change value.
- g) Calculate the final sag after elevated temperature creep by adding this temperature change value to the temperatures used in the standard sag and tension calculation.

The creep predictor equations presented here were developed by Harvey and Larson (1970).

Annex C

(informative)

Example of calculating elevated temperature creep and its effect on conductor sag

C.1 Situation

Assume a 402.8 mm² (795 kcmil), 37 strand, AAC, continuous cast, "Arbutus" conductor, which has a 243.8 m (800 ft) ruling span and a maximum light loading tension of 25.1 kN (5644 pounds-force). The designer predicts that it will operate for 1000 hours at 100 °C, 100 hours at 125 °C, and 10 hours at 150 °C. How much additional sag will occur because of this elevated temperature operation?

C.2 Calculation

Standard graphic or computer sag and tension methods predict the sags and tensions for the given situation in Table C.1.

Temperature		Sag		Tension	
°C	°F	m	ft	kN	lbf
16	60	5.85	19.2	13.90	3125
100	212	8.56	28.1	9.51	2138
125	257	9.27	30.4	8.81	1981
150	302	9.91	32.5	8.25	1854

 Table C.1—Example sag and tension values

To compute the creep at ambient temperature (16 °C) for 10 years: (metric)

$$\epsilon_c = K \sigma^{1.3} t^{0.16}$$

$$= 0.77 (13 \ 900/402.8)^{1.3} (24 \ hr \times 365 \ days \times 10 \ yrs)^{0.16}$$

= 474.9 με

To compute the elevated temperature creep for 1000 hours at 100 °C: (metric)

$$\begin{aligned} \epsilon_c &= M T^{1.4} \sigma^{1.3} t^{0.16} \\ &= 0.0084 \times (100)^{1.4} (9510/402.8)^{1.3} (1000)^{0.16} \\ &= 975.7 \, \mu\epsilon \end{aligned}$$

To compute how many hours it would take to get this same amount of creep (975.7) at 125 °C: (metric)

$$\epsilon_{c} = M T^{1.4} \sigma^{1.3} t^{0.16}$$
975.7 = 0.0084 (125)^{1.4} (8810/402.8)^{1.3} t^{0.16}
t = 264 hours

To compute the elevated temperature creep for 100 hours at 125 °C: (metric)

$$\begin{split} \epsilon_c &= M \ T^{1.4} \ \sigma^{1.3} \ t^{0.16} \\ &= 0.0084 \ (125)^{1.4} \ (8810/402.8)^{1.3} \ (100+264)^{0.16} \\ &= 1027.0 \ \mu\epsilon \end{split}$$

To compute how many hours it would take to get this same amount of creep (1027.0) at 150 °C: (metric)

$$\begin{aligned} \epsilon_c &= & M \; T^{1.4} \; \sigma^{1.3} \; t^{0.16} \\ 1027.0 &= & 0.0084 \; (150)^{1.4} \; (8250/402.8)^{1.3} \; t^{0.16} \end{aligned}$$

t = 126 hours

To compute the elevated temperature creep for 10 hours at 150 °C: (metric)

$$\begin{aligned} \epsilon_c &= M \ T^{1.4} \ \sigma^{1.3} \ t^{0.16} \\ &= 0.0084 \ (150)^{1.4} \ (8250/402.8)^{1.3} \ (10 + 126)^{0.16} \\ &= 1039.8 \ \mu\epsilon \end{aligned}$$

To compute the temperature change value that approximates the net increase in microstrain caused by elevated (high) temperature creep over general creep:

$$\Delta T = (\epsilon_{c@high} - \epsilon_{c@ambient})/\alpha$$

= (1039.8 × 10⁻⁶ - 474.9 × 10⁻⁶)/(23 × 10⁻⁶)
= 24.6 °C [76.3 °F]

Calculate the final sag after elevated temperature creep by adding the 24.6 °C [76.3 °F] temperature change value to the temperatures used in the standard sag and tension calculation (i.e., to get the elevated temperature final sag at 100 °C, calculate the final sag at 124.6 °C).

To compute the creep at ambient temperature (60 °F) for 10 years: (English)

NOTE—795 kcmil is 0.6245 in².

$$\begin{split} \epsilon_c &= K \, \sigma^{1.3} \, t^{0.16} \\ &= 0.0012 \, (3125/0.6245)^{1.3} \, (24 \, hr \times 365 \, days \times 10 \, yrs)^{0.16} \\ &= 477.6 \, \mu\epsilon \end{split}$$

To compute the elevated temperature creep for 1000 hours at 100 °C: (English)

$$\begin{aligned} \epsilon_c &= M T^{1.4} \sigma^{1.3} t^{0.16} \\ &= 0.000013 \times (100)^{1.4} (2138/0.6245)^{1.3} (1000)^{0.16} \\ &= 974.5 \, \mu\epsilon \end{aligned}$$

To compute how many hours it would take to get this same amount of creep (974.5) at 125 °C: (English)

$$\epsilon_{c} = M T^{1.4} \sigma^{1.3} t^{0.16}$$

974.5 = 0.000013 (125)^{1.4} (1981/0.6245)^{1.3} t^{0.16}
t = 264 hours

To compute the elevated temperature creep for 100 hours at 125 °C: (English)

$$\begin{aligned} \epsilon_c &= M T^{1.4} \sigma^{1.3} t^{0.16} \\ &= 0.000013 (125)^{1.4} (1981/0.6245)^{1.3} (100 + 264)^{0.16} \\ &= 1025.9 \, \mu\epsilon \end{aligned}$$

To compute how many hours it would take to get this same amount of creep (1025.9) at 150 °C: (English)

$$\epsilon_{c} = M T^{1.4} \sigma^{1.3} t^{0.16}$$

$$1025.9 = 0.000013 (150)^{1.4} (1854/0.6245)^{1.3} t^{0.16}$$

$$t = 126 \text{ hours}$$

To compute the elevated temperature creep for 10 hours at 150 °C: (English)

$$\begin{aligned} \varepsilon_{c} &= & M T^{1.4} \sigma^{1.3} t^{0.16} \\ &= & 0.000013 (150)^{1.4} (1854/0.6245)^{1.3} (10 + 126)^{0.16} \\ &= & 1038.0 \, \mu\epsilon \end{aligned}$$

To compute the temperature change value that approximates the net increase in microstrain due to elevated (high) temperature creep over general creep:

$$\Delta T = (\varepsilon_{c@high} - \varepsilon_{c@ambient})/\alpha$$

= (1038.0 × 10⁻⁶ - 477.6 × 10⁻⁶)/(23 × 10⁻⁶)
= 24.4 °C [75.9 °F]

Calculate the final sag after elevated temperature creep by adding the 24.4 °C [75.9 °F] temperature change value to the temperatures used in the standard sag and tension calculation (i.e., to get the elevated temperature final sag at 100 °C, calculate the final sag at 124.4 °C). This calculation yields the results shown in Table C.2.

Temperature		Sag without elevated creep		Sag with elevated creep	
°C	°F	m	ft	m	ft
16	60	5.85	19.2	6.71	22.0
100	212	8.56	28.1	9.26	30.3
125	257	9.27	30.4	9.88	32.4
150	302	9.91	32.5	10.49	34.4

Table C.2—Example sag values with and without elevated creep

The examples presented here used creep predictor equations developed by Harvey and Larson (1970).